



University of Dundee

Interventions for the treatment of oral and oropharyngeal cancers: surgical treatment

Oliver, R. J.; Clarkson, Janet; Conway, D.; Glenny, A. M.; Macluskey, Michaelina; Pavitt, S.; Sloan, P.; Worthington, H. V.

Published in: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006205

Publication date: 2007

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication in Discovery Research Portal

Citation for published version (APA):

Oliver, R. J., Clarkson, J. E., Conway, D., Glenny, A. M., Macluskey, M., Pavitt, S., ... Worthington, H. V. (2007). Interventions for the treatment of oral and oropharyngeal cancers: surgical treatment. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 10.1002/14651858.CD006205

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in Discovery Research Portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from Discovery Research Portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain.
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment (Protocol)

Oliver RJ, Clarkson JE, Conway D, Glenny AM, Macluskey M, Pavitt S, Sloan P, The CSROC Expert Panel, Worthington HV



This is a reprint of a Cochrane protocol, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2007, Issue 3

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
BACKGROUND
OBJECTIVES
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW
SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES
METHODS OF THE REVIEW 3
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST 5
SOURCES OF SUPPORT 5
REFERENCES
ADDITIONAL TABLES 6
Table 01. MEDLINE, OLDMEDLINE, AMED search strategy
Table 02. EMBASE search strategy 8
Table 03. CENTRAL search strategy 10
Table 04. Summary of inclusion and exclusion criteria 13
COVER SHEET

Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment (Protocol)

Oliver RJ, Clarkson JE, Conway D, Glenny AM, Macluskey M, Pavitt S, Sloan P, The CSROC **Expert Panel, Worthington HV**

This record should be cited as:

Oliver RJ, Clarkson JE, Conway D, Glenny AM, Macluskey M, Pavitt S, Sloan P, The CSROC Expert Panel, Worthington HV. Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment. (Protocol) Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD006205. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006205.

This version first published online: 18 October 2006 in Issue 4, 2006. Date of most recent substantive amendment: 09 August 2006

ABSTRACT

This is the protocol for a review and there is no abstract. The objectives are as follows: **Primary objective**

To determine which surgical treatment modalities for oral/oropharyngeal cancer lead to the best outcome in terms of disease-free survival, mortality (or overall survival), recurrent disease and quality of life compared with other surgical, radiotherapy or chemotherapy combinations.

Secondary objective

To determine the implication of treatment modalities in terms of morbidity, costs, hospital days of treatment, quality-adjusted-lifeyears (QALYs), complications and harms.

BACKGROUND

Oral cancer is a significant disease globally with an estimated 268,000 new cases worldwide in 2000 (Parkin 2001). Despite significant technical advances in the treatment of oral cancer, it still has a significant mortality with 128,000 deaths recorded representing nearly half of the incident cases (48%) (Parkin 2001). In some parts of the world there is evidence that the incidence is increasing (Hindle 1996; Parkin 1999; Robinson 2003). There is overwhelming support that tobacco and alcohol consumption are responsible for the aetiology of intraoral cancer and that fresh fruit and vegetable consumption offers a degree of protection (La Vecchia 1997; Macfarlane 1995). Cancer of the lip is largely caused by chronic exposure to ultraviolet light from sun exposure and therefore of different aetiology to the majority of intraoral cancers.

In many countries surgery remains the first line of treatment for oral cancer (Day 2003). In some anatomical sites such as the tongue, surgery is preferred over radiotherapy due to the mobility of this structure and proximity to the adjacent radiosensitive structures of the teeth and jaw bones. Although patients do often

receive post-operative radiotherapy to improve locoregional control rates.

Surgery can be combined with radiotherapy and chemotherapy. It is a widespread practice to give adjuvant radiotherapy or chemotherapy following surgery, as surgery in tissue previously irradiated is troublesome. Neoadjuvant treatment may also be given before surgery; chemotherapy is more commonly administered in this way.

The local control of the primary tumour is one of the criteria of successful surgical treatment. Tumours are excised with a margin of clinically normal tissue (this can be typically a margin of between 1 and 2 centimetres in the UK). Despite this apparent complete clinical surgical excision, the tumour may still be demonstrated at the margins histopathologically; this has prognostic implications (Batsakis 1999). Margins apparently histologically free of tumour may demonstrate molecular changes at the margins which may account for recurrence of these tumours (Partridge 2000).

Spread of the tumour to the regional lymph nodes within the neck (cervical nodes) is an early and consistent event in the natural his-

tory of oral cancer and is an important prognostic factor (Haddadin 2000). The extent of cervical involvement is reflected in the staging of the tumour and has prognostic implications (Shah 1990). Therefore, surgical dissection of the cervical lymph nodes at risk of metastasis is usually undertaken as part of the management of the primary tumour. The classic radical neck dissections removed all of the cervical lymph nodes from levels I to V combined with the sternocleidomastoid muscle, internal jugular vein, submandibular gland and the spinal accessory nerve with resultant significant post-operative morbidity. When such a neck dissection is combined en-bloc with mandibular resection either for access or disease within the mandible, this is known as the 'commando' procedure. Because of the morbidity associated with such procedures, modifications of the radical neck dissection to preserve some or all of the associated structures are now undertaken as selective neck dissections - which for oral cancer commonly involve the lymph node groups at risk of metastasis (Levels I to IV) (Carew 2003) with control rates equal to radical neck dissections. In addition to the extent of neck disease at presentation, spread of the tumour out with the capsule of the lymph nodes (extracapsular spread) has also been shown to be a poor prognostic indicator (Woolgar 2003).

When small tumours (T1, less than 2 centimetres or T2, 2 to 4 centimetres) present with apparently clinically negative neck, there is controversy over the management of the cervical lymph nodes. Studies have demonstrated an improved outcome when a neck dissection has been undertaken at the same time as the resection of the primary tumour rather than waiting for neck disease to present subsequently (Haddadin 1999; Hughes 1993) although others adopt a 'wait and see' policy. In cancer of the tongue the thickness of the tumour reflects the risk of nodal metastasis (Pentenero 2005).

OBJECTIVES

Primary objective

To

determine which surgical treatment modalities for oral/oropharyngeal cancer lead to the best outcome in terms of disease-free survival, mortality (or overall survival), recurrent disease and quality of life compared with other surgical, radiotherapy or chemotherapy combinations.

Secondary objective

To determine the implication of treatment modalities in terms of morbidity, costs, hospital days of treatment, quality-adjusted-lifeyears (QALYs), complications and harms.

CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

Types of studies

It is anticipated that there will be no studies comparing any of the treatment modalities with placebo (although if there are such studies they will be included), therefore randomised controlled trials comparing different treatment modalities will be included in the review.

Types of participants

Patients with oral cancer as defined by the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology (ICD-O) as C01-C02, C03, C04, C05-C06 (oral cavity). Cancer of the oropharynx will be included (ICD-O: C10) but hypopharynx (ICD-O: C13) and larynx (ICD-O: C32) will be excluded. Studies of head and neck cancer where there are cases of oral cancer will be included (so long as data are available separately for those participants who have cancer of the oral cavity or oropharynx). Cancers of the lip (ICD-O: C00) and nasopharynx (ICD-O: C11) will be excluded (WHO 1992). Cancers will be primary squamous cell carcinomas arising from the oral mucosa. Histological variants of squamous cell carcinomas will be included (adenosquamous, verrucous, basaloid, papillary etc) although they are known to have differing natural history to the majority of conventional squamous cell carcinomas they have a common aetiology, their incidence is low and they are generally managed in the same way. Trials that incorporate carcinoma in situ will be included, however trials that deal exclusively with carcinoma in situ will be excluded. Epithelial malignancies of the salivary glands, odontogenic tumours, all sarcomas and lymphomas will be excluded as these have a different aetiology and are managed differently.

Types of intervention

Surgical treatment of the primary tumour must be one of the primary interventions. Surgical treatment may include traditional scalpel based surgery, laser cutting or ablation, or harmonic scalpel. Surgical treatment may be compared to other surgical interventions, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, cryotherapy, radiofrequency ablation, photodynamic therapy, electroporation or complementary therapies; any combinations will be considered providing they are compared to surgery in at least one arm of the study.

Surgical treatment of the neck lymph nodes (cervical lymph nodes) may precede, occur simultaneously with or subsequent to the surgical treatment of the primary tumour. When there is no treatment of the primary tumour but only surgical treatment of the cervical lymph nodes these studies will not be considered.

The treatments received and compared must be the primary treatment for the tumour and patients should not have received any prior intervention other than diagnostic biopsy.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcome measures will be:

- Disease-free survival or time to recurrence
- Total mortality (disease related mortality will also be studied if possible)
- Quality of life (using any appropriate scales, for example those produced by the University of Washington (Deleyiannis 1997; Hassan 1993) and the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) (Bjordal 1992; Hammerlid 1997).

Secondary outcome measures will be:

- Morbidity including: function (ability to talk, eat including need for tube feeding, swallow, need for permanent tracheostomy), psychosocial, and disfigurement
- Harms associated with treatment (for example nerve damage, nutritional problems)
- Complications of treatment (such as wound infection, flap necrosis, late treatment effects, nerve damage, fistula, bleeding, treatment related death)
- Salvage treatment
- Direct and indirect costs to patients and health services
- Length of hospital stay/hospital days of treatment
- Hospital readmission
- Patient satisfaction.

SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: methods used in reviews.

A search strategy will be developed and adapted for use in the following databases:

- The Cochrane Oral Health Group Trials Register
- The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library*, current issue)
- MEDLINE (1966 to present)
- OLDMEDLINE (1950 to 1965)
- EMBASE (1980 to present)
- AMED (1985 to present)
- National Cancer Trials Database.

to include all possible studies. Articles of any language will be considered and only excluded if it is not possible to translate them to English language. The reference lists of relevant articles will be searched and authors contacted in order to identify unpublished or ongoing trials.

For the search strategy developed for MEDLINE *see* 'Additional Table 01' and that adapted for EMBASE *see* 'Additional Table 02' and CENTRAL 'Additional Table 03'.

METHODS OF THE REVIEW

The titles and abstracts (when available) of all reports identified through the electronic searches will be scanned independently by two review authors. For studies appearing to meet the inclusion criteria, or for which there are insufficient data in the title and abstract to make a clear decision, the full report will be obtained. The full reports obtained from all the electronic and other methods of searching will be assessed independently by two review authors to establish whether the studies meet the inclusion criteria or not. Disagreements will be resolved by discussion. Where resolution is not possible, a third review author will be consulted. All studies meeting the inclusion criteria will then undergo a validity assessment and data extraction. Studies rejected at this or subsequent stages will be recorded in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table, and reasons for exclusion recorded. The key inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in 'Additional Table 04'.

Quality assessment

The quality assessment of the included trials will be undertaken independently and in duplicate by two or more review authors as part of the data extraction process.

Three main quality criteria will be examined:

- (1) Allocation concealment, recorded as:
- (i) Adequate
- (ii) Unclear
- (iii) Inadequate

(2) Treatment blind to outcomes assessors, recorded as:

- (i) Yes
- (ii) No
- (iii) Unclear
- (iv) Blinding not possible

(3) Clear explanation for withdrawals and drop outs in each treatment group, assessed as:

(i) Clear explanation of numbers of, and reasons for, withdrawals and drop outs

(ii) Description of numbers of or reasons for withdrawals and drop outs or both unclear

(iii) Partial explanation but clarity is not achieved.

Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment (Protocol)

Because studies involving oral cancer are often included with

those of the head and neck, a broad search will be undertaken

Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

After taking into account the additional information provided by the authors of the trials, studies will be grouped into the following categories.

(I) Low risk of bias (plausible bias unlikely to seriously alter the results) if all criteria are met (all i's).

(II) Moderate risk of bias (plausible bias that raises some doubt about the results) if one or more criteria are partly met (when authors respond that they had made some attempts to conceal the allocation of patients, to blind the assessors or to give an explanation for withdrawals, but these attempts are not judged to be ideal, these criteria will be categorized as 'partly').

(III) High risk of bias (plausible bias that seriously weakens confidence in the results) if one or more criteria are not met as described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* 4.2.5, section 6.7.

Further quality assessment will be carried out to assess the randomisation procedure, sample size calculations, the definition of exclusion/inclusion criteria, adequate definitions of success criteria and comparability of control and treatment groups at entry. The quality assessment criteria will be pilot tested using several articles.

Data extraction

Data will be extracted by two review authors independently using a specially designed data extraction form. The data extraction form will be piloted on several papers and modified as required before use. Any disagreement will be discussed and a third review author consulted where necessary. All authors will be contacted for clarification or missing information. Data will be excluded until further clarification is available or if agreement cannot be reached.

For each trial the following data will be recorded:

Year of publication, country of origin and source of study funding Details of the participants including demographic characteristics and criteria for inclusion

Details of the type of intervention

Details of the outcomes reported, including method of assessment, and time intervals.

Data synthesis

For dichotomous outcomes, the estimates of effect of an intervention will be expressed as risk ratios together with 95% confidence intervals. For continuous outcomes, mean differences and standard deviations will be used to summarize the data for each group. The survival data will be analysed in two ways depending on what data are presented in study reports, or obtained from authors. The proportion surviving at 1, 2, 5, 10 years will be analysed as dichotomous outcomes. Where presented the hazard ratios will also be used for comparison in meta-analysis. If hazard ratios are not quoted in studies, then they will be calculated from available summary statistics (observed events, expected events, variance, confidence intervals, P values or survival curves) according to the methods proposed by Parmar et al (Parmar 1998), or we will request these from authors.

Where possible, similar stage lesions will be analysed. Due to the different natural history and treatment regimen for cancers of the oral cavity and oropharynx they will be analysed separately. Clinical heterogeneity will be assessed by examining the types of participants, interventions and outcomes in each study. Metaanalyses will be conducted only if there are studies of similar comparisons reporting the same outcome measures. Risks ratios will be combined for dichotomous data, mean differences for continuous data and hazard ratios for survival data, using random-effects models. The significance of any discrepancies in the estimates of the treatment effects from the different trials will be assessed by means of Cochran's test for heterogeneity and the I² statistic, and any heterogeneity investigated.

It is planned to undertake a sensitivity analysis to examine the effects of randomisation, allocation concealment, blind outcome assessment (if appropriate) and quality of follow up/completeness of data set.

Further investigation

Once the Cochrane review has been completed and published using summary statistics from the study reports we may undertake an individual patient data analysis (IPD) if the results of the standard Cochrane review warrant this level of investigation. The following methods are adapted from a published Cochrane protocol (Pignon 2000). For eligible studies, therefore, the investigators will be contacted to provide the following data for each patient:

- age
- sex
- · social class or socio-economic status
- site of primary tumour (International Classification of Diseases (ICD) code)
- stage of tumour (TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours (TNM), clinical (cTNM) and pathological (pTNM) where possible)
- allocated treatment
- date of randomisation
- date of last follow up
- survival status
- cause of death
- date of first event (local or regional recurrence, distant metastasis, second primary tumour)
- if excluded from trial analysis and reason for exclusion
- geographical region or country.

The methods for IPD outlined in section 11.0 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* 4.2.5 will be used (Higgins 2005).

Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\text{\scriptsize C}}}$ 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF

None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

External sources of support

- National Institute of Health, National Institute of Dental & Craniofacial Research USA
- Central Manchester & Manchester Children's University Hospitals NHS Trust UK

Internal sources of support

- School of Dentistry, The University of Manchester UK
- Cochrane Oral Health Group UK
- The University of Dundee UK
- The University of Glasgow UK

REFERENCES

Additional references

Batsakis 1999

Batsakis JG. Surgical excision margins: a pathologist's perspective. *Advances in Anatomic Pathology* 1999;**6**(3):140–8.

Bjordal 1992

Bjordal K, Kaasa S. Psychometric validation of the EORTC Core Quality of Life Questionnaire, 30-item version and a diagnosis-specific module for head and neck cancer patients. *Acta Oncologica* 1992; **31**(3):311–21.

Carew 2003

Carew JF, Singh B, Shah JP. Cervical lymph nodes. In: ShahJP, JohnsonNW, BatsakisJG editor(s). *Oral cancer*. London: Martin Dunitz, 2003:215–49.

Day 2003

Day TA, Davis BK, Gillespie MB, Joe JK, Kibbey M, Martin-Harris B, et al. Oral cancer treatment. *Current Treatment Options in Oncology* 2003;**4**(1):27–41.

Deleyiannis 1997

Deleyiannis FW, Weymuller EA Jr, Coltrera MD. Quality of life of disease-free survivors of advanced (stage III or IV) oropharyngeal cancer. *Head & Neck* 1997;**19**(6):466–73.

Faggiano 1997

Faggiano F, Partanen T, Kogevinas M, Boffetta P. Socioeconomic differences in cancer incidence and mortality. In: Kogevinas M, Pearce N, Susser M, Boffetta P editor(s). *Social inequalities and cancer*. Lyon: IARC Scientific Publications No 138. International Agency for Research in Cancer, 1997.

Funk 2002

Funk GF, Karnell LH, Robinson RA, Zhen WK, Trask DK, Hoffman HT. Presentation, treatment, and outcome of oral cavity cancer: a National Cancer Data Base report. *Head & Neck* 2002;**24**(2):165–80.

Garg 2004

Garg M, Beitler JJ. Controversies in management of the neck in head and neck cancer. *Current Treatment Options in Oncology* 2004;**5**(1): 35–40.

Haddadin 1999

Haddadin KJ, Soutar DS, Oliver RJ, Webster MH, Robertson AG, MacDonald DG. Improved survival for patients with clinically T1/T2, N0 tongue tumors undergoing a prophylactic neck dissection. *Head & Neck* 1999;**21**(6):517–25.

Haddadin 2000

Haddadin KJ, Soutar DS, Webster MH, Robertson AG, Oliver RJ, MacDonald DG. Natural history and patterns of recurrence of tongue tumours. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 2000;**53**(4):279–85.

Hammerlid 1997

Hammerlid E, Bjordal K, Ahlner-Elmqvist M, Jannert M, Kaasa S, Sullivan M, et al.Prospective, longitudinal quality-of-life study of patients with head and neck cancer: a feasibility study including the EORTC QLQ-C30. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery* 1997; **116**(6 Pt 1):666–73.

Hassan 1993

Hassan SJ, Weymuller EA. Assessment of quality of life in head and neck cancer patients. *Head & Neck* 1993;**15**(6):485–96.

Higgins 2005

Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions 4.2.5 [updated May 2005]. *The Cochrane Library* 2005, Issue 3.

Hindle 1996

Hindle I, Downer MC, Speight PM. The epidemiology of oral cancer. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 1996;**34**(5):471–6.

Hughes 1993

Hughes CJ, Gallo O, Spiro RH, Shah JP. Management of occult neck metastases in oral cavity squamous carcinoma. *American Journal of Surgery* 1993;**166**(4):380–3.

La Vecchia 1997

La Vecchia C, Tavani A, Franceschi S, Levi F, Corrao G, Negri E. Epidemiology and prevention of oral cancer. *Oral Oncology* 1997;**33** (5):302–12.

Macfarlane 1995

Macfarlane GJ, Zheng T, Marshall JR, Boffetta P, Niu S, Brasure J, et al.Alcohol, tobacco, diet and the risk of oral cancer: a pooled analysis of three case-control studies. *Oral Oncology* 1995;**31B**(3):181–7.

Parkin 1999

Parkin DM, Pisani P, Ferlay J. Estimates of the worldwide incidence of 25 major cancers in 1990. *International Journal of Cancer* 1999; **80**(6):827–41.

Parkin 2001

Parkin DM. Global cancer statistics in the year 2000. *Lancet Oncology* 2001;**2**(9):533–43.

Parmar 1998

Parmar MK, Torri V, Stewart L. Extracting summary statistics to perform meta-analysis of the published literature for survival endpoints. *Statistics in Medicine* 1998;**17**(24):2815–34.

Partridge 2000

Partridge M, Li SR, Pateromichelakis S, Francis R, Phillips E, Huang XH, et al. Detection of minimal residual cancer to investigate why oral tumors recur despite seemingly adequate treatment. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2000;**6**(7):2718–25.

Pentenero 2005

Pentenero M, Gandolfo S, Carrozzo M. Importance of tumor thickness and depth of invasion in nodal involvement and prognosis of oral squamous cell carcinoma: a review of the literature. *Head & Neck* 2005;**27**(12):1080–91.

Pignon 2000

Pignon J-P, Sylvester R, Bourhis J. Hyperfractionated and/or accelerated radiotherapy versus conventional radiotherapy for head and neck cancer (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2000, Issue 2.

Robinson 2003

Robinson KL, Macfarlane GJ. Oropharyngeal cancer incidence and mortality in Scotland: are rates still increasing?. *Oral Oncology* 2003; **39**(1):31–6.

Shah 1990

Shah JP. Cervical lymph node metastases--diagnostic, therapeutic, and prognostic implications. *Oncology (Williston Park, NY)* 1990;4 (10):61–9.

WHO 1992

WHO. ICD-O. International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems, 1989 revision. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1992.

Woolgar 2003

Woolgar JA, Rogers SN, Lowe D, Brown JS, Vaughan ED. Cervical lymph node metastasis in oral cancer: the importance of even microscopic extracapsular spread. *Oral Oncology* 2003;**39**(2):130–7.

Xi 2003

Xi S, Grandis JR. Gene therapy for the treatment of oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Journal of Dental Research* 2003;**82**(1):11–6.

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 01. MEDLINE, OLDMEDLINE, AMED search strategy

Form: (oral cancer) and (interventions) and (RCT filter, part 1 only)

Database: Ovid MEDLINE(R) In-Process, Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid MEDLINE(R), OLDMEDLINE(R), AMED(R). Search strategy:

1 ((cancer\$ or tumor\$ or tumour\$ or neoplas\$ or malignan\$ or carcinoma\$ or metasta\$) adj5 (oral\$ or intra-oral\$ or gingiva\$ or oropharyn\$ or mouth\$ or tongue\$ or cheek or cheeks or gum or gums or palatal or palate or intraoral or (head adj2 neck))).mp. 2 "head and neck neoplasms"/ or mouth neoplasms/ or gingival neoplasms/ or palatal neoplasms/ or tongue neoplasms/

4 palliative.mp.

5 chemoradiotherap\$.mp.

6 surg\$.mp.

7 radiotherap\$.mp.

8 chemotherap\$.mp.

9 (neck adj1 dissection\$).mp.

^{3 1} or 2

Table 01. MEDLINE, OLDMEDLINE, AMED search strategy (Continued)

10 brachytherap\$.mp. 11 (adjuvant or neo-adjuvant).mp. 12 photodynamic.mp. 13 teletherap\$.mp. 14 plesiotherap\$.mp. 15 excision\$.mp. 16 excise\$.mp. 17 (hyperfractionate\$ or hyper-fractionate\$).mp. 18 dahanca.mp. 19 arcon.mp. 20 radiat\$.mp. 21 irradiat\$.mp. 22 resect\$.mp. 23 lymphadenectom\$.mp. 24 curett\$.mp. 25 neoadjuvant.mp. 26 glossectom\$.mp. 27 antineoplas\$.mp. 28 ((alternative or combined or gene or genetic or nutrition\$) adj2 (therapy or therapies)).mp. 29 (onyx-015 or amifostine\$ or misonidazole\$ or erythropoietin\$).mp. 30 fluorouracil\$.mp. 31 5-fluorouracil\$.mp. 32 cisplatin\$.mp. 33 paclitaxel\$.mp. 34 vinblastine\$.mp. 35 bleomycin\$.mp. 36 5fu.mp. 37 adriamycin\$.mp. 38 doxorubicin\$.mp. 39 methotrexa\$.mp. 40 docetaxel\$.mp. 41 carboplatin\$.mp. 42 hydroxyurea.mp. 43 ((vitamin or nutrition\$) adj2 supplement\$).mp. 44 (herb or herbs).mp. 45 herbal.mp. 46 (locoregional\$ adj5 (recurren\$ or control\$ or treat\$ or lymph\$)).mp. 47 aromatherap\$.mp. 48 homeopath\$.mp. 49 surg\$.mp. 50 surg\$.mp. 51 osteopath\$.mp. 52 naturopath\$.mp. 53 (wholistic or holistic).mp. 54 reflexolog\$.mp. 55 massage\$.mp. 56 (essential adj1 oil\$).mp. 57 exp Radiotherapy/ 58 exp Antineoplastic Agents/ 59 exp surgical procedures, operative/ or lymph node excision/

Table 01. MEDLINE, OLDMEDLINE, AMED search strategy (Continued)

60 exp Antimetabolites/

61 exp nursing care/ or palliative care/ or perioperative care/ or terminal care/

62 exp combined modality therapy/ or exp complementary therapies/ or exp nutrition therapy/ or exp rehabilitation/ or exp remission induction/ or exp salvage therapy/

63 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22

64 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42

65 43 or 44 or 45 or 46 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 or 62

66 63 or 64 or 65

67 randomized controlled trial.pt.

68 controlled clinical trial.pt.

69 Randomized Controlled Trials/

70 Random Allocation/

71 Double-Blind Method/

72 Single-Blind Method/

73 or/67-72

74 Animal/ not Human/

75 73 not 74

 $76\ 3$ and $66\ and\ 75$

Table 02. EMBASE search strategy

Form: (oral cancer) and (interventions) and (RCT filter)

Database: EMBASE (from 1980 to present) Search strategy:

2 ((cancer\$ or tumour\$ or tumour\$ or neoplas\$ or malignan\$ or carcinoma\$ or metasta\$) adj5 ((oral\$ not "Oral Drug Administration") or (intra-oral\$ or gingiva\$ or oropharyn\$ or mouth\$ or tongue\$ or cheek or cheeks or gum or gums or palatal or palate or intraoral or (head adj2 neck)))).mp.

3 1 or 2

4 palliative.mp.

5 chemoradiotherap\$.mp.

- 6 surg\$.mp.
- 7 radiotherap\$.mp.

8 chemotherap\$.mp.

9 (neck adj1 dissection\$).mp.

10 brachytherap\$.mp.

11 (adjuvant or neo-adjuvant).mp.

12 photodynamic.mp.

13 teletherap\$.mp.

14 plesiotherap\$.mp.

15 (excision\$ or excise\$).mp.

16 (amifostine\$ or misonidazole\$ or erythropoietin\$).mp.

17 (hyperfractionate\$ or hyper-fractionate\$).mp.

18 dahanca.mp.

19 arcon.mp.

20 radiat\$.mp.

Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment (Protocol) Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

8

^{1 &}quot;head and neck tumor"/ or "head and neck cancer"/ or mouth cancer/ or mouth carcinoma/ or oropharynx cancer/ or oropharynx carcinoma/ or tongue cancer/ or tongue carcinoma/ or tonsil cancer/ or tonsil carcinoma/ or mouth tumor/ or oropharynx tumor/ or tongue tumor/ or tonsil tumor/

Table 02. EMBASE search strategy (Continued)

21 irradiat\$.mp. 22 resect\$.mp. 23 lymphadenectom\$.mp. 24 curett\$.mp. 25 neoadjuvant.mp. 26 glossectom\$.mp. 27 antineoplas\$.mp. 28 ((alternative or combined or gene or genetic or nutrition\$) adj2 (therapy or therapies)).mp. 29 onyx-015.mp. 30 fluorouracil\$.mp. 31 5-fluorouracil\$.mp. 32 cisplatin\$.mp. 33 paclitaxel\$.mp. 34 vinblastine\$.mp. 35 bleomycin\$.mp. 36 5fu.mp. 37 adriamycin\$.mp. 38 doxorubicin\$.mp. 39 methotrexa\$.mp. 40 docetaxel\$.mp. 41 carboplatin\$.mp. 42 hydroxyurea.mp. 43 ((vitamin or nutrition\$) adj2 supplement\$).mp. 44 (herb or herbs).mp. 45 herbal.mp. 46 (locoregional\$ adj5 (recurren\$ or control\$ or treat\$ or lymph\$)).mp. 47 aromatherap\$.mp. 48 homeopath\$.mp. 49 osteopath\$.mp. 50 naturopath\$.mp. 51 (wholistic or holistic).mp. 52 reflexolog\$.mp. 53 massage\$.mp. 54 (essential adj1 oil\$).mp. 55 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22 56 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 57 exp therapy/ 58 surgery/ or exp cancer surgery/ or "head and neck surgery"/ or oral surgery/ or glossectomy/ or mandible osteotomy/ or mandible reconstruction/ or mandible resection/ or maxilla osteotomy/ or maxilla resection/ or palatoplasty/ or uvulopalatopharyngoplasty/ or surgical technique/ or anastomosis/ or electrosurgery/ or endoscopic surgery/ or excision/ or implantation/ or incision/ or laser surgery/ or ligation/ or microsurgery/ or myotomy/ or radiosurgery/ or surgical drainage/ or suture/ 59 terminal care/ 60 alternative medicine/ 61 43 or 44 or 45 or 46 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 62 random\$.ti,ab. 63 factorial\$.ti,ab. 64 placebo\$.ti,ab. 65 (doubl\$ adj blind\$).ti,ab. 66 (singl\$ adj blind\$).ti,ab. 67 assign\$.ti,ab.

Table 02. EMBASE search strategy (Continued)

68 allocat\$.ti,ab.
69 volunteer\$.ti,ab.
70 double-blind procedure.sh.
71 randomized controlled trial.sh.
72 single blind procedure.sh.
73 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71 or 72
74 animal/ or nonhuman/ or animal experiment/
75 human/
76 75 and 74
77 74 not 76
78 73 not 77
79 3 and 61 and 78

Table 03. CENTRAL search strategy

Form: (interventions) and (oral cancer) (palliative or chemoradiotherap* or surg* or radiotherap* or chemotherap* or brachytherap*) (neck next dissection*) (adjuvant or neo-adjuvant or neoadjuvant) (photodynamic or teletherap* or plesiotherap* or excision* or excise* or hyperfractionate* or hyper-fractionate*) (dahanca or arcon or radiat* or irradiat*) (resect* or lymphadenectom* or curett* or glossectom* or antineoplas*) (retroviral or retro-viral) (alternative or combined or gene or genetic or nutrition*) (therapy or therapies) (#8 and #9) onyx-015 or amifostine* or misonidazole* or erythropoietin* (fluorouracil* or 5-fluorouracil*) (cisplatin* or paclitaxel* or vinblastine* or bleomycin* or 5fu or adriamycin* or doxorubicin* or methotrexa* or docetaxel* or carboplatin* or hydroxyurea) (vitamin next supplement*) (nutrition next supplement*) (herb or herbs or herbal) (locoregional* near recurren*) (locoregional* near treatment) (locoregional* near treatments) (locoregional* near lymph*) (aromatherap* or homeopath* or osteopath* or naturopath* or wholistic or holistic or reflexolog* or massage*) (essential next oil*) RADIOTHERAPY ANTINEOPLASTIC AGENTS SURGICAL PROCEDURES OPERATIVE LYMPH LYMPH NODE EXCISION **ANTIMETABOLITES** NURSING CARE PALLIATIVE CARE PERIOPERATIVE CARE TERMINAL CARE

COMBINED MODALITY THERAPY COMPLEMENTARY THERAPIES NUTRITION THERAPY REHABILITATION **REMISSION INDUCTION** SALVAGE THERAPY (#1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #10) (#11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20) (#21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30) (#31 or #32 or #33 or #34 or #35 or #36 or #37 or #38) (#39 or #40 or #41 or #42) #43 (head near neck near cancer*) (head near neck near tumor*) (head near neck near tumour*) (head near neck near neoplas*) (head near neck near malignan*) (head near neck near carcinoma*) (head near neck near metasta*) (#45 or #46 or #47 or #48 or #49 or #50 or #51) (oral* near cancer*) (oral* near tumor*) (oral* near tumour*) (oral* near neoplasm*) (oral* near neoplas*) (oral* near malignan*) (oral* near carcinoma*) (oral* near metasta*) (intra-oral* near cancer*) (intra-oral* near tumor*) (intra-oral* near tumour*) (intra-oral* near neoplas*) (intra-oral* near malignan*) (intra-oral* near carcinoma*) (intra-oral* near metasta*) (gingiva* near metasta*) (gingiva* near carcinoma*) (gingiva* near malignan*) (gingiva* near neoplas*) (gingiva* near tumour*) (gingiva* near tumor*) (gingiva* near cancer*) (oropharyn* near cancer*) (oropharyn* near tumour*) (oropharyn* near tumor*) (oropharyn* near neoplas*) (oropharyn* near malignan*) (oropharyn* near carcinoma*) (oropharyn* near metasta*) (mouth* near metasta*)

(mouth* near carcinoma*) (mouth* near malignan*) (mouth* near neoplas*) (mouth* near tumour*) (mouth* near tumor*) (mouth* near cancer*) (tongue* near cancer*) (tongue* near tumour*) (tongue* near tumor*) (tongue* near neoplas*) (tongue* near malignan*) (tongue* near carcinoma*) (tongue* near metasta*) (cheek* near metasta*) (cheek* near carcinoma*) (cheek* near malignan*) (cheek* near neoplas*) (cheek* near tumor*) (cheek* near tumour*) (cheek* near cancer*) (gum near cancer*) (gum near tumor*) (gum near tumour*) (gum near neoplas*) (gum near malignan*) (gum near carcinoma*) (gum near metasta*) (gums near metasta*) (gums near carcinoma*) (gums near malignan*) (gums near neoplas*) (gums near tumor*) (gums near tumour*) (gums near cancer*) (palat* near cancer*) (palat* near tumor*) (palat* near tumour*) (palat* near neoplas*) (palat* near malignan*) (palat* near carcinoma*) (palat* near metasta*) (intraoral* near metasta*) (intraoral* near carcinoma*) (intraoral* near malignan*) (intraoral* near neoplas*) (intraoral* near tumor*) (intraoral* near tumour*) (intraoral* near cancer*) HEAD AND NECK NEOPLASMS MOUTH NEOPLASMS

Table 03. CENTRAL search strategy (Continued)

GINGIVAL NEOPLASMS PALATAL NEOPLASMS TONGUE NEOPLASMS (#52 or #53 or #54 or #55 or #56 or #57 or #58 or #59) (#60 or #61 or #62 or #63 or #64 or #65 or #66 or #67 or #68 or #69) (#70 or #71 or #72 or #73 or #74 or #75 or #76 or #77 or #78 or #79) (#80 or #81 or #82 or #83 or #84 or #85 or #86 or #87 or #88 or #89) (#90 or #91 or #92 or #93 or #94 or #95 or #96 or #97 or #98 or #99) (#100 or #101 or #102 or #103 or #104 or #105 or #106 or #107 or #108 or #109) (#110 or #111 or #112 or #113 or #114 or #115 or #116 or #117 or #118 or #119) (#120 or #121 or #122 or #133 or #134 or #135 or #136 or #137 or #138 or #139) (#140 or #141 or #142 or #143 or #144) (#145 and #43)

Table 04. Summary of inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Primary oral cancer	Lip
Squamous cell carcinoma (SCC)	Salivary gland malignancies
Histological variants of SCC	Nasopharyngeal cancer
Randomised controlled trials	Hypopharynx, nasopharynx and larynx
Primary and secondary outcomes included	Sarcomas and lymphomas
Surgical treatment of the primary tumour	Odontogenic tumours
Surgical management of the cervical lymph nodes when combined with surgical	

Surgical management of the cervical lymph nodes when combined with surgical management of the primary tumour

COVER SHEET

Title	Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment
Authors	Oliver RJ, Clarkson JE, Conway D, Glenny AM, Macluskey M, Pavitt S, Sloan P, The CSROC Expert Panel, Worthington HV
Contribution of author(s)	 Richard Oliver (RO), Jan Clarkson (JC), Helen Worthington (HW), Anne-Marie Glenny (AMG) and Emma Tavender (ET) conceived, designed and sought funding for the review. RO and Susan Pavitt (SP) co-ordinated the review, collected data and developed the search strategy. RO, Michaelina Macluskey (MM), JC, Phil Sloan (PS), David Conway (DC), HW, AMG and SP plan to screen the titles and abstracts.
	 SP will organise retrieval of papers. RO, MM, JC, PS, DC, HW, AMG and SP will screen retrieved papers against the inclusion criteria, appraise the quality of the papers, and extract data; additionally, some members of the Cochrane Systematic Reviews on Oral Cancer (CSROC) Expert Panel will assist in the data extraction process. RO and MM will obtain and screen data on unpublished studies and additional data on published studies.

Interventions for the treatment of oral cancer: surgical treatment (Protocol)

Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

	RO, SP and HW will enter data into RevMan, be responsible for data management for the review, and analyse the data. RO, JC, HW and MM will interpret the data. HW and AMG will provide a methodological perspective. RO, JC, MM, PS and members of the CSROC Expert Panel will provide a clinical perspec- tive. JC and PS will provide a policy perspective. RO and MM will write the review. The CSROC Expert Panel will provide comment /assist in the final review development. The CSROC Expert Panel comprises: Baujat B, Humphris G, Hutchison I, O'Brien C, Pignon J-P, Robertson G, Rogers S, Shah J, Slevin N, Soutar D, Tavender E, Vermorken JB, Wardell S, Warnakulasuriya S, Webster K.
Issue protocol first published	2006/4
Date of most recent amendment	09 August 2006
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	09 August 2006
What's New	Information not supplied by author
Contact address	Dr Richard Oliver Senior Lecturer Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery School of Dentistry The University of Manchester Manchester M15 6FH UK E-mail: richard.j.oliver@manchester.ac.uk Tel: +44 161 275 6624 Fax: +44 161 275 6631
DOI	10.1002/14651858.CD006205
Cochrane Library number	CD006205
Editorial group	Cochrane Oral Health Group